# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1764

#### MICHAEL WARD,

Appellant,

-VS-

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

#### **BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS**

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

ROY A. HEIMLICH Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0078905

Counsel for Appellant

#

#### INTRODUCTION

As originally enacted, the Jimmy Ryce Act<sup>1</sup> applied to persons then in custody and to Apersons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the future. Less than six months after the Act had become effective, the legislature added an additional requirement, making the Act applicable to Apersons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future (emphasis added).

The District Court held in this case that the addition of the words <code>Aand</code>
sentenced to total confinement@reversed the meaning of the original
provision, and made the Act now applicable to persons convicted of a sexually violent
offense <code>in the past</code>, even if they did not commit a new sexually violent offense, if they were subsequently sentenced to total confinement for any offense.

Petitioner was not in custody on January 1, 1999 and was not thereafter convicted or any sexually violent offense. Yet the Third District held that the pending proceedings to commit him under the Act were proper because he was sentenced to total confinement for a non-sexual offense after January 1, 1999, and had previously been convicted of a sexually violent offense.

This cause is before the Court on petition for discretionary review. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the District Court. For purposes of this brief, references to AA@refer to the Appendices submitted with this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Act was originally adopted as the AJimmy Ryce Involuntary Civil Commitment for Sexually Violent Predators=Treatment and Care Act@(see Chapter 98-64, Laws of 1998), and will be referred to herein as the Ryce Act, the Act or the statute.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Michael Ward sought a writ of prohibition in the Third District Court of Appeal, barring the continued prosecution of a civil commitment proceeding brought and pending against him in the Circuit Court, Eleventh Judicial Circuit (Case No. 05-1287CA32, Hon. Peter Adrien), seeking his involuntary commitment as a sexually violent predator under Sections 394.910-930, Florida Statutes (the Ryce Act), on the ground that the Act does not authorize the proceeding because Mr. Ward was not in custody on January 1, 1999, the effective date of the Ryce Act, and has not been convicted of a sexually violent offense since the effective date of the Ryce Act. See Al; see also A2, A3.

The State Attorney for the Eleventh Judicial District had filed a petition in the Circuit Court on January 19, 2005, seeking to declare Michael Ward a sexually violent predator and to commit him to the Department of Children and Family Services for Acare, control and treatment@ (A4).

The petition did not allege that Ward had been in State custody or any custody on January 1, 1999, the effective date of the Ryce Act; instead, it merely alleged that Ward was Apresently@ in the custody of the State Department of

Corrections (A4 at & 3). The State subsequently agreed that Ward had not been in custody on January 1, 1999 (A8 at 1-2).

The petition did not allege that Ward had been convicted of a sexually violent offense subsequent to January 1, 1999, the effective date of the Ryce Act; instead it alleged that Ward had been convicted of a series of sexually violent offenses in 1976, more than 22 years prior to the effective date of the Ryce Act, when he was 24 years old (A4 at && 6,8, and 10). The petition did not set forth the date when Ward, now 52 years old, was released from prison on these charges, nor did it set forth any subsequent convictions for sexually violent offenses, or for other offenses not defined as sexually violent offenses under the statute; see Section 394.912(9), defining the term Asexually violent offense.@ The State subsequently acknowledged that Ward was released from his sentences for the 1976 offenses (which were sexually violent offenses) prior to January 1, 1999, and was not in State custody on any charge on January 1, 1999 (A8 at 1-3). The State also acknowledged that Ward had not subsequently been convicted of a sexually violent offense, though he had been convicted of offenses that were not defined as sexually violent offenses, and was serving a State Prison sentence for

such an offense when the State=s petition was filed (A8 at 1-2,  $3).^2$ 

Ward moved to dismiss the petition, on the ground that the statute did not authorize either the institution of the commitment proceeding or the commitment sought where Ward had not been in custody on January 1, 1999, and had not been convicted of any sexually violent offense since the effective date of the Act (A5).

The petition did not allege that Ward met either of these applicable criteria, and Ward affirmatively alleged that he was not in custody on January 1, 1999 (A5 at &3), and had not been convicted of a sexually violent offense subsequent to that date, on which the Ryce Act became effective (A5 at &9).

As noted, the State conceded these factual claims, but asserted that Ward was presently in State custody by reason of a conviction for an offense that is not defined as a sexually violent offense under the Act, and had previously been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Upon the filing of the State=s petition, the trial court found probable cause warranting Mr. Ward=s detention by the Department of Children and Family Services pending the determination of the commitment proceedings, and Mr. Ward has been so detained since.

convicted of a sexually violent offense, and that this was sufficient under the Act.

The State had previously made a similar claim against Mr. Ward. The August 6, 2001 judgment in the prior case (Case No. 01-14851 CA 21) had established that the State could not have Michael Ward committed under the Ryce Act because Ward had not been in State custody on January 1, 1999, and had not been convicted of a sexually violent offense since the effective date of the Ryce Act. See A5, A6 and A7. Nothing had changed.

The trial court heard the motion on March 2, 2005 and March 16, 2005 (AlO and All), and issued a written ruling (A9). The trial court ruled that a person incarcerated after the effective date of the Act for an offense not defined as a sexually violent offense, but who had previously been convicted of a sexually violent offense and been released at the end of his sentence prior to January 1, 1999, is subject to involuntary commitment under the Ryce Act (Al2 at 4). The trial court held that the Act applies Ato people who are currently incarcerated even for a non-sexual offense and who have been previously convicted for a sexually violent offense (Al2 at 4). And the court asserted that the Ryce Act applied to any person who ever been convicted of a sexually violent

crime, and who was thereafter incarcerated for any crime not defined as a sexually violent offense if he was Acurrently incarcerated when the petition for civil commitment is filed@

(A12 at 4, emphasis added).

The trial court indicated that this interpretation of the statute was derived from Hale v. State, 891 So. 2d 517, 521 (Fla. 2004) (defendant in custody on January 1, 1999 for offense not defined as a sexually violent offense). The trial court did not explain the basis for its conclusion that the rule in Hale also applied to a defendant such as Ward, released from incarceration for a sexually violent offense prior to January 1, 1999, not in custody on January 1, 1999, and not convicted of a sexually violent offense subsequent to January 1, 1999, but who been convicted of another offense and was in custody for that offense in January 2005.

The Third District denied the petition for a writ of prohibition, in an opinion by Judge Shepard, in which Judge Rothenberg joined; Chief Judge Cope dissented. Ward v. State, 936 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 2006); see A17.

The Third District ruled that, Aunder the better reading and interpretation of this section, though Ward had not been in custody on January 1, 1999, and though he had not subsequently been convicted of a sexually violent offense, he

could be committed if, subsequent to January 1, 1999, he was sentenced to total confinement for a non-sexual offense, because he had been convicted of a sexually violent offense prior to January 1, 1999. Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1145.

The court considered Athe legislatures placement of the amending language between the substantive phrase >sexually violent offense= and the prepositional phrase >in the future,= evidence that the legislature@ intended an expansion rather than a contraction of the Act=s scope. Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1146.

The Third District relied upon the grammatical doctrine of the last antecedent to find the meaning of the statute.

ABBecause the legislature elected to insert the amending language into the statute as it did, immediately prior to the qualifying prepositional phrase in the future, this canon impels us to conclude that the legislature intended the prepositional phrase in the future to modify the added language and sentenced to total confinement but not the remote phrase sexually violent offense. Our belief that the 1999 amendment was intended to expand and harmonize the second clause with the first rather than reduce its reach is fortified by this analysis. Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1147 (emphasis added).

The Third District purported to embrace the holding of *State v. Atkinson*, 831 So. 2d 172, 173-74 (Fla. 2002), saying **A**it is now settled law that the purpose of the first clause is to address sexual predators who were in custody on the Ryce Act=s effective date, January 1, 1999, see *State v. Atkinson*, 831 So.2d 172, 173-74 (Fla. 2002) (confirming that the phrase xurrently in custody=in the first clause means in custody as defined by the Act on January 1, 1999) . . . . @ Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1143.

However, the Third District also stated:

A[W]e find the notion argued by the petitioner in support of relief here that the legislature necessarily intended a single-day prism for purposes of gathering all past offenders to be rationally farfetched. Cf. *Gordon*, 839 So. 2d at 716 n. 1 (stating that while the petitioner could not be committed under the Afirst clause@ of section 394.925 because he was not in custody at the time the proceeding was commenced, A[t]he [Ryce] Act <u>could</u> be applicable to [him] in the future should he ever be sentenced to total confinement@; *Tabor v. State*, 864 So.2d 1171, 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004)(stating in a Aclause one@ case that Appellant=s argument that his current incarceration must be as a result of a sexually violent offense is refuted by . . . other provisions of the Ryce Act. . . . .@).

Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1147-48.<sup>3</sup> The Third District thus apparently rejected the rulings in *Atkinson* and *Hale* that custody status on January 1, 1999 is controlling as to the applicability of the statute, and construed statements that the issue was open as indicating that it had been decided where it had not been presented.<sup>4</sup>

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Mr. Tabor had been in custody on January 1, 1999, and was thus subject the rule in *Hale v. State*, while Mr. Ward was **not** in custody at all on January 1, 1999.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Indeed, the statement quoted from *Tabor* is wholly out of context, since Mr. Tabor was in custody on January 1, 1999; the statement in *Gordon* is the baldest dictum.

The District Court also claimed that Athe interaction of the [applicability provision] with other sections of the Ryce Act compels the conclusion we draw. Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1147. The District Court reviewed several provisions that it suggested were meaningless if they did not apply to persons not in custody on January 1, 1999, or that could meaningfully be applied to persons not in custody on January 1, 1999. All of these provisions were directly applicable to persons who were in custody on January 1, 1999 for non-sexual offenses, but who had previously been convicted of a sexually violent offense, either in Florida or elsewhere, and thus were eligible for commitment under Hale v. State, 891 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2004). The District Court did not explain why these provisions were meaningless or how they indicated intent to apply the Act to persons not in custody on January 1, 1999 who were not subsequently convicted of a sexually violent offense.

Judge Rothenberg Acompletely@ concurred with Judge
Shepard=s analysis and conclusion, and wrote separately to
assert that a statute that turned upon whether a person was or
was not in custody on January 1, 1999 would violate the Equal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> These provisions pertain to notice and the furnishing of medical records, to persons in custody who were convicted of a sexually violent offense in another jurisdiction, and to the gathering of statistical information as to prior offenses. All applied to persons in custody on January 1, 1999.

Protection Clause of the United States and Florida
Constitutions because

Ait would provide for the disparate treatment of individuals who had the ill-fortune of being incarcerated (for any offense) at the time the amended Act was passed, versus those who were not confined when the amended Act became effective, but who were later convicted and confined. @ Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1151-52.

Judge Rothenberg also indicated that such an interpretation Amakes no sense whatsoever. 

### Id.

Chief Judge Cope dissented. He noted that Mr. Ward had not been in custody on January 1, 1999, and that he had not there-after been convicted of a sexually violent offense, and that he therefore could not be committed under the original version of the Ryce Act. Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1153. The Chief Judge noted that the original applicability provision applied to persons in custody and Aall persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the future. 916.45, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998). Judge Cope explained:

Under this language, an offender qualified if he was convicted of a sexually violent offense Ain the future. The effective date of the Act was January 1, 1999, so Ain the future meant after January 1, 1999. Therefore an offender qualified for civil commitment if he was convicted of a sexually violent offense after January 1, 1999. The majority opinion and this opinion are unanimous on that point.

Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1153.

Judge Cope explained the effect of the May 1999 amendment:

AThe 1999 amendment added -- using the word Alande -- a second requirement for an offender to qualify for civil commitment: the defendant had to be sentenced to total confinement. . . . [The amended language now applied to] >all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future.= ' 394.25, Fla. Stat. The Act already required that an offender had to be convicted of a qualifying offense after January 1, 1999. The Legislature simply added a second requirement: the defendant had to be sentenced to total confinement. \*e Ward\*, 936 So. 2d at 1154 (emphasis in original).

Chief Judge Cope addressed the claim that adding new language had changed the meaning of the original language:

The majority opinion says that by adding new language to the statute, the Legislature changed the meaning of the already existing language. That is not correct.

The majority acknowledges that the eligible group was originally Aall persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the future, e.e., after January 1, 1999. The majority says that because the Legislature inserted new language before Ain the future, e it follows that the Legislature intended Ain the future to apply only to the new phrase, not the old phrase.

Respectfully, this is contrary to common understanding. The Jimmy Ryce Act already had an accepted meaning: that it applied to persons convicted of a qualifying offense after January 1, 1999. Under ordinary drafting practices, if the Legislature had wanted to change that part of the statute, it would have done so expressly and not by mere implication.

Provisions of the original act or section which are repeated in the body of the amendment, either in the same or equivalent words, are considered a continuation of the original law.@1A Norman J. Singer, *Statutes and Statutory Construction* ' 22:33, at 392 (2002).

Chief Judge Cope disagreed with the Court-s reliance upon the doctrine of the last

Ward. 936 So. 2d at 1154.

no application here.@ Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1156.

antecedent. He pointed out that the rule applies only where no contrary intent appears, and does not serve to override the intent of the draftsman. He concluded:

All this case the most relevant pronouncement is one by Justice Brandeis on behalf of the Supreme Court many years ago. >When several words are followed by a clause which is applicable as much to the first and other words as to the last, the natural construction of the language demands that the clause be read as applicable to all.= *Porto Rico Ry. v. Mor*, 253 U.S. 345, 348, 40 S.Ct. 516, 64 L.Ed. 944 (1920). The rule of the last antecedent has

Chief Judge Cope rejected the claim that an amendment to Rule 3.172 (*see In Re: Amendments to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172*, 911 So. 2d 763, 765 (Fla. 2005)), providing for warnings of possible Ryce Act commitments in connection with guilty pleas, was a construction of the applicability provision of the Ryce Act.<sup>6</sup> AThe law is well

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This claim is somewhat startling. The State here contends that a person previously convicted of a sexually violent offense may be committed if thereafter sentenced to total confinement for a non-sexual offense. Surely this warrants a warning to someone contemplating a guilty plea. The claim here is that, because the warning is authorized, the statutory construction urged by the State is correct. The claim would make the warning a self-fulfilling prophesy.

established that in adopting procedural rules, the court does not adjudicate substantive rights. See Ramos v. State, 505 So.2d 418, 421 (Fla.1987).@ Ward, 936 So. 2d at 1156.

Finally, Chief Judge Cope addressed the equal protection claim. AThe parties have made no such argument in this case. The State has defended the trial court-s ruling on the basis of grammatical rules, not constitutional rules. If the constitutional issue were properly before us (which it is not), the Legislature is allowed to, and has a rational basis for, narrowing the group eligible for civil commitment if it wishes to do so.@ *Ward*, 936 So. 2d at 1156.

This Court granted discretionary review.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As originally enacted, the Ryce Act applied to past offenders in custody and to persons Aconvicted of a sexually violent offense in the future. Less than six months after it became effective, the applicability provision of the statute was amended, by inserting the words Aand sentenced to total confinement, so that it applied to persons Aconvicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future.

Notwithstanding the amendment, the words Ain the future continued to modify Aconvicted of a sexually violent offense in the amended statute as in the original. Nothing indicates a legislative intent to reverse the meaning of the original statutory language and now have the statute apply to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the past, regardless of whether or not they were in custody with the meaning of the original scope provision. The intent was to contract the statute by adding an additional requirement, not to expand it, as is apparent from the lack of inquiry as to the cost of the supposed expansion.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Ι

# THE ACT APPLIES ONLY TO THOSE WHO COMMIT A SEXUALLY VIOLENT OFFENSE AFTER JANUARY 1, 1999, OR WHO WERE IN CUSTODY ON JANUARY 1, 1999

As originally enacted, the Ryce Act applied to past offenders in custody and to persons Aconvicted of a sexually violent offense in the future. Less than six months after it became effective, the applicability provision of the statute was amended, by inserting the words And sentenced to total confinement, so that it applied to persons Aconvicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future.

Notwithstanding the amendment, the words Ain the future continued to modify Aconvicted of a sexually violent offense in the amended statute as in the original. Nothing indicates a legislative intent to reverse the meaning of the original statutory language and now have the statute apply to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the past, regardless of whether or not they were in custody with the meaning of the original scope provision.

The Act applies to persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the past only if they were in custody when

the Act was adopted or if they are convicted of a sexually violent offense in the future. The legislature limited the scope of the Act in this fashion for economic reasons, not for reasons of logic or policy.

Α.

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