IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1764

MICHAEL WARD, Appellant,

- versus -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

APPELLEE'S CORRECTED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau SUE-ELLEN KENNY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 961183 1515 North Flagler Drive , Suite 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000

E-Mail: DCAFilings4th@OAG.state.fl.us Sue-Ellen_Kenny@OAG.state.fl.us

Counsel for Appellee

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

Summary of the Argument

An affirmative answer to the certified question is mandated by the plain language of the statute. Additionally application of the principles of statutory construction of the language at issue require an affirmative answer. Further, examination of the language at issue in the context of the entire Act reveal Petitioner's interpretation would render meaningless other sections of the Act. The purpose of the Jimmy Ryce Act to protect the public and provide treatment to mentally ill offenders is better accomplished by the State's position.

Argument

WHETHER A PERSON WHO WAS NOT IN **CUSTODY ON JANUARY 1, 1999, IS ELIGIBLE** COMMITMENT FOR CIVIL UNDER THE JIMMY RYCE ACT IF THAT PERSON WAS TOTAL SENTENCED TO CONFINEMENT 1999, BUT AFTER JANUARY 1. THE **OCCURRED OUALIFYING** CONVICTION **BEFORE JANUARY 1, 1999?**

Standard of Review:

The issue of statutory construction is purely legal, thus Judicial interpretation of Florida statutes is therefore subject to de novo review. <u>Florida Dept. of Revenue v. New Sea Escape Cruises, Ltd</u>. 894 So.2d 954, 957 (Fla. 2005), citing <u>Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.</u>, 721 So. 2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), citing <u>Operation Rescue v. Women's Health Center, Inc.</u>, 626 So. 2d 664, 670 (Fla. 1993).

Merits:

Petitioner argues that the sexually violent predators civil commitment act (SVPA) does not apply to him because he does not fall within the scope of § 394.925, Florida Statutes, which provides:

This part applies to all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense, as that term is defined in s. 394.912(9), as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense **and sentenced to total confinement in the future**.¹

(e.s.). The plain language of the statue demonstrates the Act is applicable to Petitioner. As to the first requirement, Ward does not dispute his qualifying offenses as outlined in the Petition. (App. 4, ¶¶ 6-13). The second requirement is clearly met by Ward's burglary sentence of total confinement on June 6, 2002.

A fundamental tenet of statutory construction mandates that "courts must follow what the legislature has written and neither add, subtract, nor distort the words written." <u>State v. Byars</u>, 804 So. 2d 336 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). Citing, <u>62</u> <u>Cases More or Less, Each Containing Six Jars of Jam v. U.S.</u>, 340 U.S. 593, 596, 71 S.Ct. 515, 95 L.Ed. 566 (1951); <u>Donato v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.</u>, 767 So. 2d 1146, 1150-1151 (Fla. 2000) (a court abrogates legislative power when it construes an "unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit

¹ As originally promulgated, the predecessor version of s. 394.925, as set forth in s. 916.45, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), provided:

Sections 916.31 – 916.49 apply to all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense, as that term is defined in s. 916.32(8), as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense in the future.

its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications."). Further, the Florida Supreme Court has held that this "principle is 'not a rule of grammar; it reflects the constitutional obligation of the judiciary to respect the separate powers of the legislature." <u>State v. Rife</u>, 789 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 2001), citing <u>State v. Brigham</u>, 694 So. 2d 793, 797 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1997). Appellant invites this Court to add the requirement that his confinement must be pursuant to a sexual crime. This flies in the face of both the tenets of statutory construction and the plain language of the statute.

An examination of Fla. §§ 394.912(2), (9), (10) and (11) 394.913(1), (2)(e) reveals that a person subject to Ryce commitment must be confined as defined in Fla. § 394.912(11) and must at some point have been convicted of a sexually violent offense. Fla. §§ 394.912(2) and (9). There is absolutely no statutory requirement that the "total confinement" must be resultant from a sexually violent offense. Fla. § 394.912(11). In fact, the statute specifically cites that the person is being securely held, **"for any reason."** Fla. § 394.912(11). (e.s). Additionally, any other reading of this clear language would render the provisions of Fla. § 394.913(1) and (2)(e) meaningless.

The statutory scheme enacted by the legislature specifically provides for

This section was amended in May, 1999, and now reads as set forth in the text

those Florida prisoners who have never been convicted of a sexually violent offense in Florida but are serving a Florida sentence who have also been previously convicted for a sexually violent act in either another state or federal court. Fla. § 394.913(1). According to Petitioner, Ryce proceedings could never be initiated against this class of prisoner, however, the statute mandates otherwise.

Further, Fla. § 394.913(2)(e) specifically provides that if a respondent has been returned to total confinement from a period of supervision (ie. probation or community control) the multidisciplinary team must be provided documentation regarding this supervision. According to Petitioner, Ryce proceedings could never be initiated against those in total confinement as a result of violation of probation, community control or other supervision. The statute specifically contemplates and provides for Ryce proceedings against this class of prisoner. Thus, Petitioner's interpretation of the statute renders Fla. § 394.913(2)(e) meaningless. Also illustrative is Fla. Stat. § 394.9135(1) which commands the immediate transfer to the Department, "[I]f the anticipated release from total confinement of a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense becomes immediate for any reason." The legislature did not limit this requirement to "total confinement for a sexually violent offense," further refuting Appellant's argument. "[T]he Jimmy

above. Chapter 99-222, Laws of Florida.

Ryce Act applies to all persons who are currently incarcerated and who at some point in the past have been convicted of committing a sexually violent offense." Moore v. State, 909 So.2d 500, 504 (Fla, 5th DCA 2005).

Petitioner's, "argument is refuted by sections 394.913(1), 394.912(9)(g), and 394.912(11), Florida Statutes." <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 866 So. 2d 776, 777 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). Furthermore,

Even if we did agree that this provision, standing alone, was ambiguous, we would be bound to give effect to all provisions of the Ryce Act and construe related provisions in harmony with one another. <u>Young v.</u> <u>Progressive Southeastern Ins. Co.</u>, 753 So.2d 80 (Fla.2000); <u>Palm Beach Cty. Canvassing Bd. v. Harris</u>, 772 So.2d 1273 (Fla.2000) (all parts of a statute should be read together in order to achieve a consistent whole); M.W. v. Davis, 756 So.2d 90 (Fla.2000).

<u>Tabor</u>, at 1174. Petitioner's version of the Ryce Act requires the judiciary to determine the legislature did not mean what was clearly written. Further, Petitioner's version requires the judiciary to determine the legislature drafted statutory provisions which were intended to have no meaning.

In <u>Hale v. State</u>, 891 So. 2d 517, 518 (Fla. 2004), this Court addressed the issue of whether the Act requires that the person to be committed be currently incarcerated for a sexually violent offense. In answering the question in the negative, this Court elaborated,

The statute does not state that it applies to all persons currently in custody for a sexually violent offense and it does not otherwise link the current incarceration to the sexually violent offense.

Other sections of the Act, when read together with section 916.45, lead to the conclusion that the legislature did not intend that the Act apply only to persons currently incarcerated for sexually violent offenses. A "sexually violent offense" is defined to include a federal conviction or a conviction from another state. See § 916.32(8)(g), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). As the Fourth District Court of Appeal recently reasoned:

A person in custody in Florida, whose only conviction for a sexually violent offense is from another jurisdiction, would not be in custody for a sexually violent offense. The non-Florida sentence for the sexually violent offense could be running concurrently, could been completed, or could have be consecutive to the Florida sentence. Under none of those scenarios would the current incarceration be as a result of the sexually violent offense.

<u>Tabor v. State</u>, 864 So. 2d 1171, 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004).

Therefore, reading sections 916.45 and 916.32(8)(g) together, we conclude that the Act applies to all persons who are currently incarcerated and who at some point in the past have been convicted of a sexually violent offense. Such a reading of the Act "gives effect to all statutory provisions and construes related statutory provisions in harmony with one another." See Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist., 604 So. 2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1992). We find that the Ryce Act does not require

that the respondent's current incarceration be for a sexually violent offense.

Hale v. State, 891 So. 2d 517, 521-522 (Fla. 2004).

The State acknowledges that Hale dealt with the pre-1999 version of the SVPA (this case is controlled by the original version of the Act contained in sections 916.31 -.49, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998), not the 1999 version). Hale, at 520. However, the rationale is similar to the present situation, as noted by the trial court in its order. The Hale decision made clear that total confinement, as used in the Act, need not be for a sexually violent offense. The Act applies to all persons convicted of a qualifying sexually violent offense and who are then subsequently convicted of a crime and sentenced to total confinement. This is apparently the construction that is given by the Second District Court of Appeal. In Gordon v. Regier, 839 So. 2d 715, 716 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the State petitioned for involuntary civil commitment of Gordon as a sexually violent predator. However, Gordon was released from DOC custody on April 6, 2000. He was arrested two days later on a warrant issued pursuant to a letter under §394.9135, Fla.Stat. (2000). The Second District found that the person must be in custody or in "total confinement" for the Act to apply and that Gordon was not in custody when the petition was filed and, therefore, the Act was not applicable to him. The court

continued by noting, "[T]he Act could be applicable to Mr. Gordon in the future should he ever be sentenced to total confinement. See § 394.925." <u>Gordon</u>, at 716 fn 1. The Second District has implicitly held that, under the second section of § 394.925, the SVPA is applicable to those convicted of a sexually violent crime in the past and subsequently sentenced to total confinement.

As the State noted below, <u>State v. Atkinson</u>, 831 So. 2d 172, 173 (Fla. 2002) is not dispositive in this case. The Supreme Court was asked to resolve whether the custody requirement should be read to include "lawful custody." Atkinson was in custody when the petition was filed but it was subsequently determined that the custody was not lawful because he was resentenced pursuant to <u>Heggs v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000). Although in custody, his sentence should have expired at the time the petition was filed.

This Court stated, "Section 394.925, Florida Statutes (2001), provides **in pertinent part** that the Ryce Act 'applies to all persons currently in custody who have been convicted of a sexually violent offense." <u>Atkinson at 173</u>. (e.s.). Thus, the current issue regarding the language, "as well as to all persons convicted of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future" was not addressed. In fact, this Court specifically declined to address the issue now being raised. "The section further provides that the Act applies to 'all persons convicted

of a sexually violent offense and sentenced to total confinement in the future.' **We do not address this language**, as it clearly does not apply to Atkinson." <u>Atkinson</u>, at 174, fn 3(e.s.). The State submits that <u>Atkinson</u> is of no consequence to the present issue.

The issue before this Court is whether the phrase "in the future" applies only to the "sentenced to total confinement," or to both the "sentenced to total confinement" and the "convicted of a sexually violent offense." The State contends that "in the future" refers only to the sentence of "total confinement." A traditional rule of statutory construction known as the doctrine of the last antecedent "provides that relative and qualifying words, phrases and clauses are to be applied to the words or phrase immediately preceding, and are not to be construed as extending to, or including, others more remote." <u>City of St. Petersburg v.</u> <u>Nasworthy</u>, 751 So. 2d 772, 774 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Applying that principle, the qualifying phrase "in the future" applies to the immediately preceding phrase, "sentenced to total confinement," and not to the more remote phrase, "convicted of a sexually violent offense."

<u>Nasworthy</u> provides an example of the application of this principle. The relevant provision of the workers' compensation act stated:

.... Impairment income benefits are paid weekly at the rate of 50 percent of the employee's average weekly

temporary total disability benefit not to exceed the maximum weekly benefit under s. 440.12.

<u>Id</u>., at 774. In construing this provision, the court had two alternatives. The qualifying phrase "not to exceed . . .," could apply to either the immediately preceding language, i.e., "the employee's average weekly temporary total disability benefit," or to the more remote phrase, "impairment income benefits." <u>Id</u>. While the trial court had applied the qualifying language to the initial phrase, "impairment income benefits," the appellate court held that was erroneous, as the qualifying phrase applied only to the immediately preceding phrase, "the employee's average weekly temporary total disability benefit." <u>Id</u>. The same principle would apply to limit the phrase "in the future" to the immediately preceding phrase, "sentenced to total confinement."

Another example supports the same conclusion. In <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 433 So. 2d 1236, 1239-41 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the court was interpreting § 901.17, Florida Statutes (1979), which provided that an officer making a warrantless arrest

Shall inform the person to be arrested of his authority and the cause of arrest except when the person flees or forcibly resists before the officer has an opportunity to inform him or when giving the information will imperil the arrest."

13

<u>Kirksey</u>, 433 So. 2d at 1239. The court was required to determine whether the phrase "before the officer has an opportunity to inform him" applied to both "flees" and "forcibly resists." <u>Id</u>. at 1239-40. Applying the rule of the last antecedent, the court concluded that the qualifying phrase "before the officer has an opportunity to inform him" applied only to the situation in which one forcibly resists, not to the situation in which one flees. <u>Id</u>. at 1240.

It has long been the law that "[t]he legislature is presumed to know the meaning of words and the rules of grammar" <u>Florida State Racing Comm'n v.</u> <u>Bourquardez</u>, 42 So. 2d 87, 88 (Fla. 1949). See <u>Campus Crusade for Christ v.</u> <u>Unemployment Appeals Com'n</u>, 702 So. 2d 572, 576 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997). Clearly, the doctrine of the last antecedent is a well-recognized rule of grammar, regularly used in resolving issues involving statutory construction. See <u>Vreuls v. Progressive</u> <u>Emplr. Servs.</u>, 881 So. 2d 688, 691 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004); <u>Nasworthy; Kirksey</u>. Black's Law Dictionary defines the rule of last antecedent as

A canon of statutory construction that relative or qualifying words or phrases are to be applied to the words or phrases immediately preceding, and as not extending to or including other words, phrases, or clauses more remote, unless such extension or inclusion is clearly required by the intent and meaning of the context, or disclosed by an examination of the entire act.

Black's Law Dictionary 794 (5th ed. 1979). Clearly, then, the doctrine is important

14

in deciding issues such as that in the instant case.

The doctrine is explained in a published work authored by a law professor at

the University of Alabama. He writes:

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